IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-2016

JAMES GUZMAN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ERIC PINKARD
ASSISTANT CCRC-MIDDLE
FLORIDA BAR NO: 651443
OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL
COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL
3801 CORPOREX PARK DRIVE
SUITE 210
TAMPA, FL 33609-1004
(813) 740-3544
COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Guzman=s post-conviction motion.

References to the record from the post conviction hearing include a page number and are of the form, e.g., (PC-R. 123). References to the record of Mr. Guzman=s retrial include a page number and are of the form, e.g., (R. 123). All other references are self explanatory or explained herein.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Guzman has been sentenced to death. The resolution of the issues involved in this action will therefore determine whether he lives or dies. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument is appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the gravity of the penalty. Mr. Guzman, through counsel, accordingly urges that the Court permit oral argument.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The judgment and sentence considered by this appeal were entered by the Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for, Volusia County.

On January 7, 1992, the Volusia County Grand Jury indicted Mr. Guzman for first degree murder and robbery. R. 1992 277). The jury convicted Mr. Guzman of first-degree murder and robbery with a deadly weapon on September 24, 1992. R. 1992 577). On September 29, 1992, the advisory panel recommended a sentence of death by a vote of 10-2 R. 1992 600).

On Mr. Guzman=s direct appeal, this Court reversed Mr. Guzman=s convictions and sentence. *Guzman v. State*, 644 So. 2d 996, 1000 (Fla. 1994). This Court found that the trial court=s failure to allow Mr. Guzman=s trial counsel to withdraw despite a conflict of interest denied Mr. Guzman the Aright to conflict-free counsel as required by the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution.@ *Id.* at 999.

In 1996, Mr. Guzman proceeded to a non-jury trial. R. 1996 1246-47). The trial judge sentenced Mr. Guzman to death for the first-degree murder conviction without a recommendation from an advisory panel. R. 1996 2368). On direct appeal, this Court affirmed both the convictions and sentence. *Guzman v. State*, 721 So. 2d 1155 (Fla. 1998). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on May 3, 1999. *Guzman v. Florida*, 119 S. Ct 1583 (1999).

Following the United States Supreme Courts denial of certiorari, Mr. Guzman

sought post-conviction relief in the circuit court. Mr. Guzman filed a motion for post-conviction relief under Rule 3.850.

The circuit court held an evidentiary hearing on this motion in October of 2001 and denied Mr. Guzman all relief. On Appeal, this Court remanded the case back to the Lower Court for a determination of the materiality prong of *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150 (1972). *Guzman v. State*, 868 So.2d 498 (Fla. 2004). On September 5, 2004, the lower court denied the *Giglio* claim. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 12, 1991, officers of the Daytona Beach Police Department responded to the Imperial Hotel in Daytona Beach. (R. 1330). They discovered a body later identified as David Colvin lying face down on a bed within one of the hotel rooms. (R. 1330). He had received multiple stab wounds. (R. 1330). From August 12, 1991, until November 23, 1991, the police investigation uncovered no evidence which implicated Mr. Guzman in the death of David Colvin. (R. 1502, 1503). On August 12, 1991, police interviewed Martha Cronin at the Imperial Hotel and she provided a statement which did not implicate Mr. Guzman. R. 1526).

After Martha Cronin=s November 23, 1991 arrest for violation of probation on prostitution charges, Martha Cronin changed her story and gave a statement to the police claiming that Mr. Guzman had confessed to her that he had killed David Colvin. R. 1531). As will be demonstrated below, the testimony of Martha Cronin was essential to the state=s case against Mr. Guzman, and the facts and circumstances of her changed testimony were the subject of several claims in Mr. Guzman=s motion for post-conviction relief.

(a) MARTHA CRONIN:

The state obtained a first degree murder conviction against Mr. Guzman primarily through the testimony of state witness Martha Cronin, an admitted prostitute and crack cocaine addict. Martha Cronin did not implicate Mr. Guzman in any way in

her initial statements to the police.

Ms. Cronin testified at Mr. Guzman=s trial that in August of 1991 she lived at the Imperial Hotel in Daytona Beach, where she worked as a prostitute. (R. 1653). She developed a relationship with Mr. Guzman. (R. 1653). Both she and Mr. Guzman used crack cocaine extensively during this period of time. (R. 1836). She fell in love with Mr. Guzman and had intimate sexual relations with him. (R. 1637). At trial, Ms. Cronin testified that Mr. Guzman related to her prior to David Colvin=s murder that Colvin would be easy to rob because he drank a lot and usually had a lot of money. R. 1639). She testified Mr. Guzman also told her that if he ever robbed anyone, he would have to kill them and that Mr. Guzman had owned a knife. R. 1640-41).

Martha Cronin testified that on August 10, 1991 she returned to her hotel room around 7:00 AM after working the previous evening as prostitute. R. 1642,43). She then took a shower and laid down. R. 1643). Mr. Guzman called and said he was going to drive David Colvin to the bank. R. 1644). Mr. Guzman returned to the room after 11:00 AM and said he had gone to breakfast and had some drinks at the Office Bar. R. 1645). He said he was going to help David Colvin move and had his car keys with him. R. 1646). Ms. Cronin then went out and worked as a prostitute during the lunch period. R. 1649). At about 2:30 or 3:00 Mr. Guzman came back to the room. R. 1649). He appeared upset and had a garbage bag with white rags inside. R. 1650).

She assumed he went to throw the garbage bag away in the dumpster, although she did not see him do it. R. 1651).

She testified that Mr. Guzman sat down next to her and said AI did it@ R. 1652). She asked him what he meant and he said AI killed David@ R. 1654). She said Mr. Guzman gave her two different versions of what happened. R. 1654). The first one was that David Colvin was passed out and he was trying to take his money and when Colvin woke up he hit him, knocked him out, and stabbed him with a samurai sword. R. 1655). Mr. Guzman then showed her a ring and some cash he had taken from David Colvin. (R. 1655). Ms. Cronin identified the ring at trial. (R. 1655).

According to Ms. Cronin, Mr. Guzman then asked her what he should do with the ring, and she said get rid of it. (R. 1656). He told her that he killed David Colvin for her. (R. 1658). Mr. Guzman then left and returned with \$150.00 cash and two or three hundred dollars worth of crack cocaine. (R. 1659). She said she and Mr. Guzman smoked the crack over the next several days. (R. 1660). They then discussed what to say when the police came around, and Mr. Guzman told her to say she was not there. R. 1661). She and Mr. Guzman left the Imperial Hotel and moved to Ridgewood Avenue. R. 1663). Later, Mr. Guzman said he had fought with David Colvin and he killed him with a sword. R. 1664).

In November of 1991 Ms. Cronin was arrested for violation of probation for soliciting for prostitution. R. 1666). She asked the arresting officers if they wanted

to know who killed David Colvin. R. 1666). She mentioned the ring and the sword and then Detective Allison Sylvester came to speak with her. R. 1661). She asked the Detective for a deal and testified to the events surrounding her arrest and changed testimony as follows:

- Q. And what did they do with you?
- A. They took me back to the police station and called Allison Sylvester.
- O. The case detective in this case.
- A. Yes Sir.
- Q. Did you tell Allison Sylvester that you wanted a deal and you were going to talk about the murder?
- A. Of course.
- Q. And was the deal reference to your own case?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did you in fact, Ma=am, ever get a deal?
- A. No.
- Q. What happened after you talked to Allison Sylvester?
- A. Well, they put me in a motel for protection, I guess.
- Q. All right. And ma=am, while you were in that motel, did you continue to engage in prostitution and use of crack cocaine?
- A. Yes, I did.
- Q. Is it fair to say that was not part of your agreement with Detective Sylvester?
- A. No sir, it was not.
- Q. Okay. Ma=am, why did you chose to talk to the police only when you were arrested in late November of 1991?
- A. I don= understand the question.

Q. Why did you pick that time to tell the police about the murder of David Colvin?

A. I was tired of going to jail and watching him walk away, knowing what he had done.

R. 1668).

On cross examination, Ms. Cronin admitted to using crack cocaine on a daily basis from 1989 through July 19, 1993. R. 1683). The police questioned her on August 12, 1991 and she said nothing about Mr. Guzman alleged confession. R. 1688). She admitted to writing a letter to Mr. Guzman in December of 1991 stating that she Awent off the deep end@ when she found out Mr. Guzman was seeing another woman and if she could not have him, no other woman would. R. 1696). She further stated in the letter that she Acalled Allison and told her what she wanted to hear and where you were. R. 1696). She further testified that in August of 1991 Mr. Guzman helped David Colvin move from one room to another at the Imperial Motor Lodge. R. 1727). In September of 1991 she ran into Allison Sylvester a couple of times on the street and never told her that Mr. Guzman had confessed to her or had anything to do with Mr. Colvin death. (R. 1732)

(b) ALLISON SYLVESTER:

Allison Sylvester of the Daytona Beach Police Department was the lead

Detective on the case. She was called to the Imperial Hotel on August 12, 1991. (R.

1328). She saw the body of a white male laying face down on a bed inside a hotel

room with pillows on top of him. R. 1330). A sword was propped up in light fixture above the bed. R. 1330). A black limousine belonging to David Colvin was parked in front of the hotel. R. 1493). She interviewed Mr. Guzman and Martha Cronin on August 12, 1991. R. 1495). Mr. Guzman related that he knew the victim and had previously helped him move from one room to another within the hotel. R. 1496). He further related that sometime prior to the body being found he had accompanied the victim to a bar and to a restaurant. R. 1496). He had driven the victim=s car at that time. R. 1497). Mr. Guzman then gave a written statement to Detective Sylvester where he stated:

I helped Dave move from 205 to 216 either on Wed or Thursday. And next I took him to eat at IHOP because he called me and wanted me to drive. And so I did. And then we went to a bar. I tried to get in touch with him after those days and have not been able to get in touch with him. Yes. I know Dave.

R. 1499).

Allison Sylvester also interviewed Martha Cronin on August 12, 1991 and she did Anot offer anything of substance at that time@ R. 1501). Detective Sylvester then commented on the ensuing investigation, and Martha Cronin=s prominent role, from August 12, 1991 until Mr. Guzman was arrested on December 13, 1991:

Q. During that time, ma=am, please describe the general tone of your investigation throughout the months in trying to determine who the perpetrator was? What exactly were you and your agents doing?

A. We continued to follow up on any information that came in. And we

continued to do that until the time that we received substantial information which would have been the end of November.

Q. And where did that information come from? A. Martha Cronin.

Q. Ma=am, let me ask you this. During the period of time from
August until the end of November, when you said substantial
information came from Martha Cronin, had you focused on James
Guzman as the sole suspect to the exclusion of all others?
A. No

R. 1502-03) (emphasis added).

Detective Sylvester further testified that in late November 1991, Martha Cronin was located by police due to an outstanding warrant on prostitution charges, and she told the arresting officers that Ashe had information that she wanted to provide R. 1503). When Detective Sylvester first interviewed Martha Cronin on August 12, 1991, she never told her that Mr. Guzman had confessed to her. R. 1526). On September 24, 1991 Detective Sylvester met with Martha Cronin and she related she had no information about the homicide. R. 1530). On November 23, 1991 Martha Cronin was arrested for violation of probation and for the first time changed her story claiming Mr. Guzman had confessed to her. R. 1531). Martha Cronin stated she wanted a deal, and Detective Sylvester called the State Attorney-s Office, who informed her that she should arrest Martha Cronin. R. 1571).

Instead of jail, Detective Sylvester took Martha Cronin to a hotel. R. 1532).

The police Alost contact@ with Ms. Cronin while she was staying at the hotel and

engaged in prostitution and using crack cocaine. R. 1533). Detective Sylvester testified that she had an Aagreement@ with Martha Cronin for free room and lodging at the hotel. R. 1551). Following her arrest for violating the deal she had made with Detective Sylvester, Martha Cronin was then released on her own recognizance on December 5, 1991, after Thomas Lane appeared in court on her behalf, falsely claiming to be her brother. R. 1552). Detective Sylvester then testified on redirect examination by the state about the parameters of her arrangement with witness Martha Cronin. As will be demonstrated later in this brief, this testimony was a lie. The prosecutor elicited the following false testimony from Detective Sylvester:

Q. Detective Sylvester, did you, in fact, personally offer Martha Cronin any deals whatsoever in exchange for her testimony against James Guzman?

A. No. I did not.

Q. Are you aware of any member of law enforcement or the State Attorney=s Office offering any deals to Martha Cronin for her testimony against Mr. Guzman?

A. No.

R. 1559).

(c) THE RING:

The state produced testimony at Mr. Guzman strial that he sold a ring belonging to David Colvin to Leroy Gadson on August 10, 1991. Mr. Gadson testified he was contacted by Mr. Guzman around 4:00 or 5:00 on the afternoon of August 10, 1991. R. 1820). Mr. Guzman told him he Ahad something@he wanted to show him.

R. 1822). Mr. Guzman came to his house about 20 minutes later and showed him a Anice gold ring with lots of diamonds in it@ R. 1824). He gave him \$250.00 and cocaine for the ring. R. 1826). Either later that night or the next day Guzman came back and got more money and drugs. R. 1830). In November of 1991 Mr. Gadson was arrested for drug charges and gave the ring to Detective Sylvester. R. 1836). At that time he had given the ring to John Cerca. R. 1832).

Two different factual versions of how Mr. Guzman came into possession of David Colvin=s ring on August 10, 1991 were presented at Mr. Guzman=s trial; one from Mr. Guzman and one from Martha Cronin. Martha Cronin=s version, as she testified to at trial, was that Mr. Guzman showed her the ring when he came back to the hotel room and confessed to killing David Colvin. R. 1655).

In contradiction, Mr. Guzman testified that on August 10, 1991, after going to the Shell gas station, the Office Bar and the International House of Pancakes with David Colvin, he returned to the hotel room where he stayed with Martha Cronin. R. 2110). In the afternoon Martha Cronin gave him \$50.00 after turning a trick in the hotel room and she left to go buy drugs from Curtis Wallace. R. 2111).

According to Mr. Guzman=s trial testimony, Martha Cronin returned with Curtis Wallace around 2:30 or 3:00 that afternoon. R. 2112). Martha Cronin had a ring and said Curtis Wallace wanted to trade it for crack cocaine. R. 2112). Mr. Guzman did not recognize it as David Colvin=s ring. R. 2113). Curtis Wallace said he wanted an

Aeight ball he could juggle@(referring to an amount of crack cocaine) in exchange for the ring. R. 2114). Acting for Mr. Wallace, Mr. Guzman then called Leroy Gadson and met him at his house. R. 2115). Mr. Gadson looked at the ring and paid him \$250.00 and an eight-ball. R. 2116). Mr. Guzman returned to the hotel and gave Curtis Wallace half the eight-ball and told him he would give him the rest later. R. 2117). Curtis Wallace then broke a piece of the drugs off for Martha Cronin and left the room. R. 2117).

Mr. Guzman and Martha Cronin then smoked the cocaine, and she left to go get more from Curtis Wallace. R. 2118). Mr. Guzman went to his apartment and called Leroy Gadson again. R. 2120). Mr. Guzman went and got the rest of the drugs from Leroy Gadson and returned to the Imperial Hotel where he gave Mr. Wallace the rest of the drugs. R. 2122).

Mr. Guzman admitted he had David Colvin-s ring on August 10, 1991, and that he sold the ring to Leroy Gadson. The incriminating character of the ring evidence was established solely through the testimony of admitted cocaine addict and prostitute Martha Cronin. Without her testimony, the ring evidence was not incriminating, as Mr. Guzman testified he got the ring from Curtis Wallace, whom the record reveals was a viable suspect based upon other evidence introduced at the trial.

(d) THE FINGERPRINT

Florida Department of Law Enforcement lab analyst Michael Rafferty testified at Mr. Guzmans trial. R. 1338). He reviewed the crime scene in order to collect evidence. R. 1339). He noted what appeared to be blood stains on the telephone in the room and placed the phone into evidence. R. 1339). Fingerprints lifted from the handset of the phone were later identified as Mr. Guzmans at the crime lab. R. 1625). Contrary to the lower courts order denying 3.850 relief, there were NO BLOODY FINGERPRINTS ON THE PHONE. R. 1663). The state produced no evidence at the trial of a bloody fingerprint lifted from the phone. The fingerprint was merely lifted from the phone which had blood on it on other parts.

Furthermore, the evidence of Mr. Guzmans fingerprint on the phone in David Colvins hotel room was not at all incriminating. Mr. Guzman testified he helped David Colvin move from room 114 to room 205. R. 2096). He used the phone in Mr. Colvins room at that time. (R. 2096). Other witness called at the trial corroborate Mr. Guzmans testimony. Thomas Conway, who worked at the Imperial Hotel and was the person who called the police after finding Mr. Colvins body in his room, testified that Guzman had helped Mr. Colvin move into his room. (R. 1324). Even Martha Cronin testified that Mr. Guzman had called her from David Colvins room. (R. 1644). Therefore, the existence of Mr. Guzmans fingerprints on the handset of the telephone was not evidence that he had anything to do with the murder of David Colvin.

(e) THE SNITCH:

The state presented testimony of jail house snitch Paul Rogers at Mr.

Guzmans trial. Mr. Rogers testified that he met Mr. Guzman at the Volusia County

Jail. (R. 1897). They shared the same cell for a couple of weeks and became friends.

(R. 1897). He testified that Mr. Guzman said he drove a limousine for David

Colvin. (R. 1905). He said that his girlfriend Terri (Martha Cronins alias) was

wanting to go out and hook and he said he had the key to David Colvins room and

he was going to rob him and get money. (R. 1905). He told Terri he was going to

rob him so she would not have to hook. (1906). He went to David Colvins room,

opened the door, went through the drawers and David woke up. R. 1906). There

was a samurai sword hanging over the dresser on the wall. R. 1907). He said he hit

him with the sword 10 or 11 times. R. 1908). He cleaned up the sword and put

everything in the dumpster. R. 1909).

On cross examination, Mr. Rogers admitted he had been convicted of felony seven times. R. 1929). He also admitted to signing an affidavit on August 29, 1992 where he stated AI told the Assistant DA that I am not going to say shit and they brought me back - and they brought me back over from the Volusia County Correctional Facility. Guzman never confessed to me. I=m not going to testify against him.@R. 1930, emphasis added). He also admitted on cross that Mr. Guzman kept court papers in his room and his cell was open. R. 1935). Mr.

Guzman verified this when he testified that he kept his court papers in his foot locker, and Mr. Rogers had access to them. R. 2163).

This jail house snitch testimony was notoriously unreliable in light of the witness=criminal history and his motivation to fabricate testimony to help his own cause. In this case, the credibility of snitch Rogers was further damaged by the signing of an affidavit where he specifically stated Mr. Guzman had not confessed to him. Mr. Rogers also had access to Mr. Guzman=s court papers where he could have learned of the factual allegations of Mr. Guzman=s case. Viewing this witnesses= testimony as corroboration of the testimony of admitted crack cocaine addict and prostitute Martha Cronin was dubious at best.

(f) OTHER SUSPECTS IN THE MURDER OF DAVID COLVIN:

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