IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES GUZMAN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC04-2016

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 Fax # (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

FN9. This is the same standard that is used to evaluate the prejudice prong of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) (stating that "the appropriate test for prejudice [in ineffective assistance of counsel claims] finds its roots in the test for materiality of exculpatory information not disclosed to the defense by the prosecution," that in ineffective an assistance of claim "[t]he counsel defendant must show that there is а reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different" and that "[a] reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome").

By contrast to an allegation of suppression of evidence under Brady, a Giglio claim is based on the prosecutor's knowing presentation at trial of false testimony against the defendant. See Giglio, 405 U.S. at 154-55, 92 S.Ct. 763. Under Giglio, where the prosecutor knowingly uses perjured testimony, or fails to correct what the prosecutor later learns is false testimony, the false evidence is material "if there is any reasonable likelihood that the false testimony could have affected the judgment of the jury." United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 103, 96 S.Ct. 2392, 49 L.Ed.2d 342 (1976). Justice Blackmun observed in Bagley that the test "may as easily be stated as a materiality standard under which the fact that testimony is perjured is considered material unless failure to disclose it

would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." 473 U.S. at 679-80, 105 S.Ct. 3375. The State, as the beneficiary of the *Giglio* violation, bears the burden to prove that the presentation of false testimony at trial was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 680 n. 9, 105 S.Ct. 3375 (stating that "this Court's precedents indicate that the standard of review applicable to the knowing use of perjured testimony is equivalent to the *Chapman [v. California,* 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967)] harmless-error standard"). [FN10]

FN10. In United States v. Alzate, 47 F.3d 1103 (11th Cir. 1995) the court, after articulating the standard of materiality applicable to Brady claims, stated:

А different and more defense-friendly standard of materiality applies where the prosecutor knowingly used perjured testimony, or failed to correct what he subsequently learned was false testimony. Where either of those events has happened, the falsehood is deemed to be material "if there is any reasonable likelihood that the false testimony could have affected the judgment of the jury." United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 103[, 96 S.Ct. 2392, 49 L.Ed.2d 342] (1976) (emphasis added). As the Supreme Court has held, this standard of materiality is equivalent to the Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24[, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705] (1967), "harmless reasonable doubt" beyond a standard. Bagley, 473 U.S. at 679 n. 9[, 105 S.Ct. 3375].

*Id.* at 1110 (citations and footnote omitted), *quoted in Trepal*, 846 So. 2d at 439 (Pariente, J., specially concurring).

Thus, while materiality is a component of both a *Giglio* and a *Brady* claim, the *Giglio* standard of materiality is more defense friendly. [FN11] The *Giglio* standard reflects a heightened judicial concern, and correspondingly heightened judicial

scrutiny, where perjured testimony is used to convict a defendant. See Bagley, 473 U.S. at 682, 105 S.Ct. 3375 (explaining that the defensefriendly standard of materiality is justified because the knowing use of perjured testimony involves prosecutorial misconduct and "a corruption of the truth-seeking function of the trial process") (citing Agurs, 427 U.S. at 104, 96 S.Ct. 2392). Under Giglio, once a defendant has established that the prosecutor knowingly presented false testimony at trial, the State bears the burden to show that the false evidence was not material.

FN11. The Alzate court stated that the Brady standard of materiality "is substantially more difficult for a defendant to meet than the 'could have affected' standard we apply [to Giglio claims]." Alzate, 47 F.3d at 1110 n. 7.

In Guzman's case, the postconviction court's resolution of the Giqlio claim does not sufficiently reflect the standard appropriate to a Giglio claim. In its order, the court did not state that there was no reasonable likelihood that the false evidence regarding the \$500 payment to Cronin could have affected the court's judgment as factfinder. Nor did the court find that the State had demonstrated that the false evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Because of this lack of findings critical to a Giglio analysis, we cannot determine that the court adequately distinguished the Gialio standard from the Brady standard when considering and ultimately deciding the Giglio claim. [FN12] We therefore remand this claim to the trial court for reconsideration and for clarification of its ruling on the materiality prong of Guzman's Giglio claim. To reiterate, the proper question under Giglio is whether there is any reasonable likelihood that the false testimony could have affected the court's judgment as the factfinder in this case. If there is any reasonable likelihood that the false testimony could have affected the judgment, a new trial is required. The State bears the burden of proving that the

presentation of the false testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

In its articulation of the Giglio FN12. standard, the lower court correctly stated that the false testimony is material if "there is a reasonable probability that the false evidence may have affected the judgment of the jury." The confusion, however, is attributable to the second sentence in the court's articulation, stating that, "[i]n analyzing this issue . . . courts must focus on whether the favorable evidence could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict." This second sentence is correctly used to analyze Brady claims, but is inappropriate to analyzing claims under the more defense-friendly standard of Gialio.

Guzman v. State, 868 So. 2d 498, 505-508 (Fla. 2004).

### THE POST-REMAND PROCEEDINGS

On remand, the circuit court reconsidered the *Giglio* claim in light of the instructions of this Court, and made the following findings:

After evaluating the State's \$500 payment to [Martha] Cronin in light of the other evidence presented at trial, the Court finds that the evidence of the \$500 payment to Cronin was immaterial under Giglio. The State has met its burden of demonstrating that the false evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The State has demonstrated that no Giglio violation occurred due to the ample impeachment and corroboration of Cronin's testimony, and the independent evidence of the Defendant's guilt.

The Court determines that in light of the significant impeachment evidence presented at trial and the other evidence of Guzman's guilt,

the evidence of the State's \$500 reward to Martha Cronin would have been merely cumulative and immaterial. The record herein contains other evidence of Guzman's guilt apart from Cronin's testimony.

Dr. Terrance Steiner, then interim medical examiner for Volusia County, testified at trial that Colvin's sword recovered from the room could have inflicted some of the wounds to Colvin's body, and that Guzman's survival knife could have inflicted other wounds to Colvin's body. [footnote omitted].

Paul Rogers, the jailhouse witness who shared a jail cell with Guzman, corroborated Cronin's testimony. Paul Rogers testified that Guzman confessed to him that he robbed and killed Colvin. [footnote omitted]. The record reflects that it is undisputed that Guzman possessed Colvin's ring and traded it for drugs and cash. [footnote omitted].

Guzman's trial counsel presented significant impeachment evidence against Cronin during crossexamination. Specifically, Cronin was impeached on: her initial claim to know nothing about Colvin's murder upon questioning by the police after the discovery of Colvin's body; her attempt to make a deal with the State after her arrest, in exchange for her damaging testimony against discontentment with Guzman; her Guzman's association with other female acquaintances; her numerous arrests for prostitution; her addiction to crack cocaine. [footnote omitted].

Guzman also presented the testimony at trial of Carmelo Garcia. Garcia testified that Cronin told him she had lied to the police about Guzman murdering Colvin. [footnote omitted].

After evaluating the State's \$500 payment to Cronin in light of the other evidence presented at trial, the Court concludes that the evidence of the \$500 payment to Cronin was immaterial under *Giglio*. The Court concludes that there was no reasonable likelihood that the false testimony regarding the \$500 payment to Cronin could have affected the court's judgment as factfinder. Thus, having applied the *Giglio* standard to the facts, the Court finds that Guzman is not entitled to relief on his *Giglio* claim.

Applying the *Giglio* standard to the facts of this case, the Court reaches the following findings and rulings on the issues on remand and the Guzman *Giglio* claim:

(A) That the Court having fully reconsidered does now clarify its ruling on the materiality prong of Guzman's *Giglio* claim by applying the *Giglio* standard to the facts of this case.

(B) That the court determines that there is no reasonable likelihood that the false testimony could have affected the judgment of the Court.

(C) That the Court determines that the State has carried its burden and has proven that the presentation of false testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

(D) That the Court states in answer to the proper question under *Giglio*, as presented by the Supreme Court of Florida, as to whether or not there is any reasonable likelihood that the false testimony could have affected the Court's judgment as to the fact finder in this case, that this Court's answer to that question is no, there is not any reasonable likelihood that the false testimony could have affected [] this Court's judgment as the fact finder in this case.

(R190-93). The Circuit Court denied all relief. (R194).

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In its order after remand, the Circuit Court found that there was no reasonable likelihood that the false testimony could have affected the Court's judgment as the factfinder in this case, and that the presentation of the

false testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The Court followed this Circuit Court's instructions explicitly, applied the standard enunciated by this Court, and found, as fact, that the evidence at issue was not material under *Giglio*. That finding is supported by competent substantial evidence, and should not be disturbed.

#### ARGUMENT

# THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE REWARD PAID TO WITNESS CRONIN WAS IMMATERIAL, FOR *GIGLIO* PURPOSES, IN THE CONTEXT OF THIS CASE.

Guzman's argument, when stripped of its pretensions, is based upon his dissatisfaction with the result reached by the trial court. Despite his protestations, the true facts are that the Circuit Court's decision is squarely based on credibility choices made by that court after hearing all of the evidence. There is no basis upon which the Circuit Court's decision should be disturbed.<sup>4</sup>

On page 25 of his brief, Guzman argues that the claim contained in his brief is subject to *de novo* review. In support of this claim, Guzman claims that this Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Eleventh Circuit upheld the denial of relief on a *Giglio* claim in *Ventura v. Attorney General*, No. 04-14564 (11th Cir., Aug. 9, 2005), and, in so doing, found that this Court had properly applied the *Giglio* standard in that case.

applied a *de novo* review standard to a *Giglio* claim in *Mordenti* v. *State*, 894 So. 2d 161, 173 (Fla. 2005). *Mordenti* dealt with a *Brady* v. *Maryland* claim, not a *Giglio* claim. And, while *Mordenti* held that "[w]hether evidence is 'material' for *Brady* purposes is a mixed question of law and fact subject to independent review," *Mordenti* v. *State*, 894 So. 2d at 170, that case did not hold that this Court will substitute its judgment for that of the trial court with respect to factual findings. Florida law is well settled that:

As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, "this Court will not 'substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court.'"

Blanco v. State, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1997), quoting Demps v. State, 462 So. 2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 1984), quoting Goldfarb v. Robertson, 82 So. 2d 504, 506 (Fla. 1955); Melendez v. State, 718 So. 2d 746 (Fla. 1998). In other words, while the legal conclusion as to "materiality" is subject to *de novo* review, the **factual** conclusions of the trial court are not.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOLLOWED THIS COURT'S DIRECTIONS, AND REACHED THE CORRECT RESULT.

In its decision remanding this case for additional factfindings by the trial court, this Court stated:

In its order the [trial] court did not state that there was no reasonable likelihood that the false evidence regarding the \$500 payment to Cronin could have affected the court's judgment as factfinder. Nor did the court find that the State had demonstrated that the false evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. . . To reiterate, the proper question under Giglio is whether there is any reasonable likelihood that the false testimony could have affected the court's judgment as the factfinder in this case.

Guzman v. State, supra, at 507-508. (emphasis added). The trial court followed those instructions explicitly, and found that there was (1) no reasonable likelihood that the false testimony could have affected the Court's judgment as the factfinder, and (2) that the State carried its burden of proving that the presentation of false testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (R170).

The primary focus of Guzman's brief is that the trial court should have ignored this Court's directive to determine whether there was a reasonable likelihood that the false testimony could have affected the court's judgment as the factfinder in exchange for an "objective" standard which ignores the "subjective opinion of the nonjury trial judge." *Initial Brief*, at 35. That argument attempts to place the trial court in error for following

the instructions of this Court, and, moreover, flies in the face of common sense.

The United States Supreme Court has not, contrary to Guzman's suggestion, held that findings on the Giglio issue made by a judge situated as Judge Johnson was are entitled to no deference. Bagley did not resolve that issue, and should not be read as deciding the matter by implication.<sup>5</sup> Florida law has long been that "it is the province of the trier of fact to determine the credibility of witnesses and resolve factual conflicts." Guzman v. State, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1159 (Fla. 1998) ("Sitting as the trier of fact in this case, the trial judge had the superior vantage point hear to see and the witnesses and judqe their credibility."). That is the law in the context of а sufficiency of the evidence claim, and it makes no sense to deviate from it in the Giglio context. The credibility of the witnesses is inextricably intertwined with the Giglio claim, and the trial court's finding that the reward evidence would not have affected his judgment as the factinder is entitled to deference.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Supreme Court's *Bagley* decision rejected the Ninth Circuit's *per se* rule of reversal which it had applied to the *Giglio* violation -- it did not answer the issue of the deference due the findings made in the context of a non-jury trial. *United States v. Bagley*, 473 U.S. 667, 105 S.Ct. 3375, 87 L.Ed.2d 481 (1985).

The trial court also found that the State had proven that the *Giglio* error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (R170). That conclusion, which is well-supported by the evidence, is dispositive of the *Giglio* claim. In its decision in this case, this Court pointed out that the United States Supreme Court had held that the standard of review applicable to a *Giglio* claim is the equivalent of the *Chapman* harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard. *Guzman*, *supra*, at 506-507 (quoting *Bagley*). The trial court's finding that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt is supported by the evidence, and should not be disturbed.

THE CORROBORATING AND IMPEACHING EVIDENCE IS UNCONTESTED.<sup>6</sup>

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